Assignment of Errors. 

1 . The court below erred by imposing restrictions on the 

Appellant, pursuant to RCW 26.09.191, because its findings do not 

support its conclusion that he had engaged in: 

A history of acts of domestic violence as 
defined in RCW 26.50.010(1) or an assault 
or sexual assault which causes grievous 
bodily injury or the fear of such harm. 

2. The court below erred in entering a permanent 

protection order. 

3. The court below erred in finding that the Appellant has 

a gross monthly income of $13,750. 

4. The court below abused its discretion in ordering the 

Appellant to pay child support in the amount of $1 ,347.72 per 

month. 

5. The court below abused its discretion in ordering the 

Appellant to pay the Respondent maintenance in the amount of 

$5,000 per month. 

6. The court below erred in finding that the Appellant has 



an earning capacity and financial resources that greatly exceeds 

what he claims 

7. The court below erred in finding that the Appellant 

could pay maintenance of $5,000 per month and still have the 

ability to meet his financial obligations while meeting those of his 

spouse. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Errors. 

1 . Did the court below err by imposing restrictions on the 

Appellant, pursuant to RCW 26.09.191, based on its conclusion 

that he had engaged in 

A history of acts of domestic violence as 
defined in RCW 26.50.010(1) or an assault 
or sexual assault which causes grievous 
bodily injury or the fear of such harm. 

when that conclusion was based on its finding that "father assaulted 

the mother at the birthday party in 2011 ", and its conclusion "that 

this was not an isolated incident", when the statute requires either a 

finding of more than one act of domestic violence, or that the 

assault caused "grievous bodily injury or the fear of such harm", 

and the trial court found neither? (Assignment of Error 1 ). 

2. Did the court below err in concluding "and this was 
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not an isolated incident" without any supporting findings sufficient to 

enable this Court to make any meaningful review of that 

conclusion---albeit such a conclusion does not meet the 

requirements of the statute? (Assignment of Error 1 ). 

3. Did the court below err by entering a permanent 

restraining order in the absence of a finding, that the Appellant was 

"likely to resume acts of domestic violence when the order 

expires"? (Assignment of Error 2). 

4. Did the court below err by entering a permanent 

restraining order against the Appellant in the absence of any 

evidence that there was a "present likelihood of recurrence" of 

"physical harm, bodily injury, assault, or the fear of imminent 

harm"? (Assignment of Error 2). 

5. Is the lower court's finding that the Appellant has a 

gross monthly income of $13,750 supported by substantial 

evidence? {Assignments of Error 3-7). 

6. Did the court below err in finding that the Appellant 

has a gross monthly income of $13,750 when it did not provide 

findings which enables this Court to meaningful review its 

calculation? (Assignments of Error 3-7). 
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7. Should the lower court's child support and 

maintenance awards be vacated when they are based on the 

finding that the Appellant has a gross monthly income of $13,750 

when that finding is not based on substantial evidence? 

(Assignments of Error 3-7). 

8. Did the court below abuse its discretion by making an 

award of maintenance which was not based upon a fair 

consideration of the statutory factors under RCW 26.09.090? 

(Assignments of Error 3-7). 

9. Is the lower court's finding that the Appellant has an 

earning capacity and financial resources that greatly exceeds what 

he claims supported by substantial evidence. (Assignments of Error 

3-7). 

10. Is the lower court's finding that the Appellant could 

pay $5,000 per month in maintenance and still have the ability to 

meet his financial obligations while meeting those of his spouse 

supported by substantial evidence. (Assignments of Error 3-7). 
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Statement of the Case. 

This appeal arises from a dissolution proceeding. 

Fanaye Ashagari and Zeleke Kassahun are each originally 

from Ethiopia, but met for the first time in Seattle in 1997. 1 RP 37; 6 

RP 630. They were married on January 3, 1998. I RP 37, CP 4. 

The parties have three sons: Nathaniel was born on June 4, 

2001 . Matthew, was born on February 27,2003. Andrew was born 

on June 13, 2006. 

The parties separated on September 16, 2011. CP 4. 

Ms. Ashagari commenced these dissolution proceedings, 

nearly ten months later, on July 5,2012. CP 1-10. 

Zeleke Kassahun. In 1991, Mr. Kassahun, purchased a 

Texaco gas station with an adjoining convenience store, with his 

cousin and another friend. 6 RP 636. 

On August 4, 1991, during Seafair weekend, some people 

tried to rob the store. During the course of that altercation, one of 

the robbers jumped at Mr. Kassahun. His gun discharged killing 

the robber, as he was defending himself. 6 RP 637-640; See also, 

7 RP 715-716; CP 87. 

Mr. Kassahun was charged with second degree murder and 
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assault. The jury found him not guilty of assault, but were unable to 

reach a verdict on the second degree murder charge. 6 RP 640. 

The State re-tried him on the second degree murder charge. 

Mr. Kassahun did not have the money to pay for an attorney. He 

was represented by a public defender. He was found guilty and 

sentenced to ten years and three months in prison. 6 RP 641. 

Funds were raised from the Ethiopian community to pay for 

an appeal. His conviction was reversed. State v. Kassahun, 78 

Wash.App. 938, 900 P.2d 1109 (1995). 6 RP 642. 

While preparing for a third trial, the State and Mr. Kassahun 

entered into a plea bargain wherein Mr. Kassahun pled guilty to 

manslaughter and was sentenced to time served. 6 RP 643. 

Fanaye Ashagari. Ms. Ashagari came to the United 

States in March of 1995 to visit her sister. She worked as a cashier 

and food service provider at fast food restaurants. I RP 38; 3 RP 

303-304. 

She met Asfaw Lewate and decided to stay. She married Mr. 

Lewate in January of 1996. They separated five months later. Her 

divorce became final in 1997. 1 RP 38-39; 3 RP 303. 
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Shortly thereafter, she met Mr. Kassahun through a friend 

who worked with him. She asked Mr. Kassahun for a job and he 

hired her. I RP 40; 3 RP 307; 6 RP 644-645. About three to eight 

months after Ms. Ashagari began working with Mr. Kassahun, the 

two began a romantic relationship and were married on January 3, 

1998. I RP 37, 41; 6 RP 645. 

Mr. Lewate had petitioned for Ms. Ashagari's to get a green 

card, but she left him before her petition had been fulfilled, RP 646. 

So she had to re-file her immigration papers. I RP 45; 3 RP 305. 

Mr. Kassahun agreed to petition for her, 6 RP 646, and hired an 

immigration attorney to assist her. I RP 47; 3 RP 305-306; 7 RP 

662-663. 

After the immigration office told Ms. Ashagari that it had 

sent papers to her at Mr. Lewate's address which he had not 

forwarded to her, threatened to have her deported, and had her 

arrested, 7 RP 662, she retained a second lawyer to obtain a 

protection order against Mr. Lewate, accusing him of domestic 

violence. I RP 48; 3 RP 310-313. In denying her Petition for a 

Protection Order on July 16, 1998, Court Commissioner Hollis C. 

Holman made the following findings, Exhibit 200, CP 848-862: 
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1. Respondent filed a petition with the INS for 
purposes of establishing Petitioner's citizenship during the 
parties' short marriage, and the July, 1996 interview was 
scheduled before Petitioner left the family residence in May, 
1996. Petitioner does not deny that she knew of the 
interview and that she failed to appear for it. 

2. The statements made by Respondent to the 
INS Agent during the July, 1996 interview were based upon 
Respondent's own beliefs and the fact that Petitioner had 
moved out of the family residence approximately 2 months 
prior. The INS Agent is free to draw his/her own conclusions 
from Respondent's statements and Petitioner's actions. 

3. There is no evidence that Respondent took any 
steps to further the INS process other than strict compliance 
with the INS procedures for appearing at a scheduled 
interview and a scheduled hearing for which he was required 
to attend. 

4. Petitioner admits that she sent notice to the 
INS of her change in address. 

5. There is no evidence to contradict 
Respondent's statement that when he received 
correspondence from the INS addressed to Petitioner that 
he returned it to the INS indicating that she did not reside 
at his address and that he had no knowledge of her current 
address. 

6. There is no dispute that Petitioner did not 
inform Respondent of her address, and there is agreement 
that Respondent did not have knowledge of Petitioner's 
current address. 

7. The fact that Petitioner requested a police 
standby to remove her belongings from the family residence 
in May, 1996 is not proof of Petitioner's allegations of 
domestic violence. It is quite common in dissolution matters 
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for parties to secure a police standby even when there is no 
history of domestic violence, but both parties are upset over 
the dissolution of the marital relationship and want to avoid 
the possibility of trouble. 

8. Petitioner alleged "horrific violence" by 
Respondent during their short term marriage, including 
physical violence as well as rape, and yet Petitioner and her 
family members admit that the family had no knowledge of 
the alleged abuse. Petitioner admits she did not contact the 
police, she did not seek medical assistance, and there is no 
independent evidence of the alleged abuse. In light of the 
type of abuse alleged by Petitioner, it is difficult to accept 
that there would be no outward signs of abuse that, at the 
very least, her family with whom she is admittedly very close 
to, would not have noticed. 

9. There is no dispute, and in fact, there is 
agreement that the parties have had no contact since 
Petitioner vacated the family residence in May, 1996; and 
there is agreement that Respondent has not even attempted 
to contact Petitioner since she vacated the residence in May, 
1996. 

10. There is no evidence that Petitioner's family 
members and/or those filing declarations in support of 
Petitioner had any actual, personal knowledge of abuse of 
Petitioner by Respondent, and in fact, Petitioner admitted 
that they had no knowledge of the alleged abuse until she 
told her sister of the alleged abuse. 

11 . The declarations in support of Petitioner 
provide no facts, evidence or any basis as to how they could 
have personal, actual knowledge of the alleged abuse, and 
therefore, this Court concluded that said declarant did not 
have the requisite actual, personal knowledge of the alleged 
abuse as indicated by each declarant. 
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12. Petitioner admits she took no action to secure 
a protection order when she separated from Respondent 
even though she alleged he threatened to kill her if she left 
and the police officer informed her that she could have 
obtained a protection order for herself. 

13. When Petitioner filed the petition for dissolution 
of marriage, she indicated that there was no necessity of 
obtaining a permanent restraining order against Respondent. 
This is supported by the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of 
Law and Decree of Dissolution of Marriage which were 
drafted by Petitioner and presented to the Court for entry by 
the Court by Petitioner. 

14. There is no credible evidence to support 
Petitioner's allegations that Respondent physically or 
sexually abused her during their short term marriage. 

15. Petitioner only sought a protection order 
against Respondent after she received notice from the INS 
that she was being deported, and had been arrested by INS 
Agents in conjunction with the deportation notice. 

16. This evidence supports that Petitioner has 
misrepresented the parties' circumstances to the Court, and 
therefore, there is a basis for an award of attorney's fees to 
Respondent. However, pending a motion for revision herein 
and a hearing thereon, the issue of the award of fees to 
Respondent is reserved to the Trial Judge to determine the 
appropriate amount after the hearing on the motion for 
revision . 

These findings were affirmed at the hearing on the motion 

for revision, and attorney fees and costs were imposed against Ms. 

Ashagari. Exhibit 200; I RP 48; 6 RP 656. 
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Even so, Ms. Ashagari told the immigration judge that her 

former husband, Mr. Lewate, had abused her. Based on these 

representations, the immigration judge granted her permanent 

residency in January of 1999. RP 49; 5 RP 506-507; CP 112. 

Marital Relationship. When they married, Mr. 

Kassahun owned a taxi license and was a part owner of a Texaco 

gas station with an adjoining convenience store. 3 RP 307. 

Ms. Ashagari did not bring any property into the marriage. 

Mr. Kassahun sold the Texaco gas station/ convenience 

store franchise back to Texaco in 2001 when Texaco and Shell 

merged. 3 RP 308-309; 5 RP 505-506. 

The parties purchased Abyssinia Market in 2002. I RP 82; 6 

RP 527; Ex. 48. During their marriage, Mr. Kassahun worked at the 

Absynnia Market from 6:00 or 7:00 in the morning until 8:00 or 9:00 

in the evening seven days each week. I RP 150, 206, 208; 3 RP 

346-347; 4 RP 439-440; 7 RP 664. 

Ms. Ashagari did not go back to work after the birth of their 

first child, Nathaniel , on June 4, 2001. I RP 75. 

Ms. Ashagari was always at home when Mr. Kassahun got 
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home, except when there was a child's birthday. I RP 49. Up until 

2008 or 2009, she would have food ready and would eat with him--

even when he came home late. 3 RP 348; 4 RP 440; 7 RP 665. 

Mr. Kassahun had a good relationship with his children. 8 

RP 771. Even though work did not permit him to have much free 

time, when he did have that time, he would play and interact with 

them. 5 RP 445; 7 RP 673-675. 

Beginning in June of 2009, Mr. Kassahun began getting 

weaker and having excruciating headaches. 7 RP 665-666; 752; 8 

RP 860-861. He confused things. He had trouble getting dressed 

by himself. He was unable to walk properly. He became 

incontinent. 7 RP 454-456, 460, 474-475,752. Taketu Truneh, a 

family friend, and Mr. Kassahun's cousin's ex-wife, 7 RP 672, had 

to drive him to and from work. 7 RP 764. 

Ms. Ashagari became very angry when Mr. Kassahun hired 

someone to help him at the Absynnia Market. 7 RP 670; 8 RP 834-

837. In Ethiopian culture, people often try to resolve marital issues 

with the help of family members and friends, who are often referred 

to as "the elders". 8 RP 772. This dispute led to such a mediation 

in September of 2009. 7 RP 671 -672,752-753. 
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In addition to his complaint about how Ms. Ashagari had 

responded when he hired an employee to help him at the store, Mr. 

Kassahun also complained that he and Ms. Ashagari no longer 

celebrated holidays together, and that she would take the kids to 

her friends and not invite him. He also complained that she would 

hide her cell phone and not answer it when it rang. 7 RP 672. 

At the conclusion of the mediation, Ms. Ashagari apologized 

and promised to refrain from those acts. 7 RP 673; 7 RP 751. The 

parties also agreed that Mr. Kassahun could hire a new employee 

because he could not function properly without one. 7 RP 753. 

On the day before Thanksgiving, Mr. Kassahun collapsed. 7 

RP 668. On Thanksgiving Day, he was operated on for a subdural 

hematoma on his brain. 7 RP 669. His activities were restricted for 

an additional two months, so Yared Ashagari, Ms. Ashagari's 

brother, helped him at the store. 7 RP 669. 

The parties' marriage began to deteriorate rapidly in the 

summer of 2010. Ms. Ashagari tried to cut Mr. Kassahun out of her 

and his children's lives. Ms. Ashagari and the children would not 

be home when he came home from work. They would not return 

home until 9 or 10 at night. Ms. Ashagari would not call to say 
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where she and the children were or that they were going to be late. 

7 RP 677. She would not tell him what they had done during the 

day while he worked. If he asked, she responded by telling him that 

she did not have to report to him. 7 RP 768. 

Mr. Kassahun started drinking 3-4 beers every day. 7 RP 

679-680. Before that time, he would only have a drink or two once a 

month or when there was an occasion. 7 RP 720. 

In September of 2010, Ms. Ashagari went to a wedding 

without Mr. Kassahun and lied about it. This caused the parties to 

argue. 7 RP 678. Mr. Kassahun had been drinking beer. Ms. 

Ashagari videotaped their exchange, Exhibit 6; 7 RP 679, during 

which she taunted him, which infuriated him. Mr. Kassahun told 

Ms. Ashagari that she "should be fried with a bullet", which is a 

figure of speech the equivalent of the idiom "you should be shot for 

that". 7 RP 681-682. Ms. Ashagari told Mr. Kassahun that they 

could delete the video together. She later told him that she had 

thrown the video away. 7 RP 682-683. She also told her brother, 

Yared, that she had destroyed the video. 5 RP 463. 

In response to Ms. Ashagari continuing to ignore him and 
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being so secretive about her cell phone, Mr. Kassahun hired a 

private investigator. Within two days, the private investigator saw 

her enter a convenience store in Richmond Beach, and go into a 

back room for almost one hour with the man who worked there. 7 

RP 682-683. Mr. Kassahun received this information on November 

29,2010.7 RP 683. 

The following day, on November 30, 2010, after celebrating 

her birthday with their children and going to bed, Mr. Kassahun 

asked Ms. Ashagari to be honest with him about being in the back 

of the convenience store. Ms. Ashagari buried her head in the 

blanket. 4 RP 381-382; 7 RP 683-685. She denied having an affair, 

and said he was just a friend. 2 RP 222,225; 7 RP 685. 

Mr. Kassahun was devastated by this news and moved out 

of the house. 2 RP 221-222; 4 RP 382; 7 RP 685. But following a 

mediation a few days later with the "elders", Mr. Kassahun moved 

back home. 4 RP 383, 7 RP 685-686. 

However, the parties continued to have marital strife. 7 RP 

686. According to Ms. Ashagari, Mr. Kassahun assaulted her with 

a whiskey bottle, and choked both her and their oldest son, 

Nathaniel, on the evening of December 30,2010. 3 RP 244-245. 
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She testified that Mr. Kassahun had hit her in the face three or four 

times with his fists--- with hands "like steel". She claimed her nose 

and cheek were bruised and that her eyes and face were swollen. 

4 RP 383-384, 392. Mr. Kassahun denied hitting her. 7 RP 689. 

Ms. Ashagari testified that she did not call the police 

because she did not want Mr. Kassahun arrested, 4 RP 385, but 

she did not hesitate to call the police few days later, on January 3, 

2011. This was the only time she ever called the police. 4 RP 353. 

Ms. Ashagari testified that while she was sitting folding 

clothes she had taken out of the laundry, Mr. Kassahun lost his 

temper for some unknown reason, grabbed her pony tail and 

started choking her. Exhibits 11 and 211; 4 RP 386; CP 59-60. 

According to Mr. Kassahun, Ms. Ashagari became angry 

after she refused to go to the Costco Business Center to help him 

with the load he had purchased for the store, and he told her, "You 

have time to go and sit for an hour in somebody's back room, but 

you don't have time to help me out?" 7 RP 687. 

Ms. Ashagari left the house with their youngest son, Andrew, 

and walked about one short block. When Mr. Kassahun followed 

her to try to get them to return home, 4 RP 387, 7 RP 687, Ms. 
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Ashagari called the police. 4 RP 388; 7 RP 687. According to the 

police officer, she told him that Mr. Kassahun: 

... had a history of assaulting her, but none are/were 
ever reported. She also accused him of drinking 
all night long, although I did not smell any alcohol 
on [Mr. Kassahun's] breath. I could not find any 
indication/evidence that any assault had occurred: 
no redness, marks, etc. on any part of [Ms. 
Ashagari's] anatomy. [emphasis added]. 

[Mr. Kassahun's] version. He said that [Ms. 
Ashagari] has been having an affair w/ another 
Ethiopian male in Shoreline. Upon discovering this, 
he confronted her about it. She grabbed their 4 yr old 
son and left on foot. [Mr. Kassahun] said he followed 
her (and the boy) trying to get them to return home. 
He was cooperative and not intoxicated in the least. 
He said he had consumed two beers last night and 
was not drinking this morning . He said that nothing 
physical had occurred and he accused [Ms. Ashagari] 
of being a "pathological liar". He said that she has 
been hiding the affair from him, but he has suspected 
it due to her acting suspicious/out of the ordinary. 
No evidence of a crime occurred. I gave [Mr. 
Kassahun] a courtesy ride to QFC and he called his 
sister-in-law for a ride. 

Exhibits 11 and 211; See also, 4 RP 389-392. 

When the police officer asked Ms. Ashagari where the red 

mark was around her neck if Mr. Kassahun had choked her, she 

told the police officer that since he had just choked her, she did not 

have a red mark. 4 RP 391 . 
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Taketu Truneh gave Mr. Kassahun a ride home, and saw 

Ms. Ashagari. Like the police officer, she did not observe any 

injuries, bruises, or red marks on Ms. Ashagari. 7 RP 755. 

From savings accrued over many years and from Mr. 

Kassahun's share of the sale proceeds of the Texaco station, the 

parties had saved $187,158 which was deposited in their joint 

account in a Certificate of Deposit in his name. 6 RP 623. 

On February 28, 2011, Ms. Ashagari went to the Abyssinia 

Market and told Mr. Kassahun that she wanted her name added to 

the Certificate of Deposit. They drove together to the bank. Mr. 

Kassahun became frustrated when Ms. Ashagari began discussing

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