71295-1

71295-1

NO. 71295-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

ZELEKE KASSAHUN,

Appellant,

v.

FANAYE ASHAGARI,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Elizabeth A. Helm, WSBA #23840 NORTHWEST JUSTICE PROJECT 401 Second Ave S. Suite 407 Seattle, Washington 98104 Tel. (206) 464-1519 Respondent

ORIGINAL

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

B. The trial courts entry of a Permanent Protection Order was proper because the trial court found that acts of domestic violence are likely to resume.

The entry of a domestic violence protection order is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Hecker v. Cortinas*, 110 Wn. App. 865, 869, 43 P.3d 50, 52 (2002).

1. Mr. Kassahun was afforded due process.

Mr. Kassahun was afforded more than the required due process of adequate notice and ability to be heard. Due process is flexible and can accommodate situations requiring differing levels of protection. Gourley v. Gourley, 158 Wn. 2d. 460, 467, 145 P.3d 1185 (2006). When the first Order for Protection was issued in February 26, 2013, Mr Kassahun chose not to appear and contest the order. CP 294. Mr Kassahun later participated in a full dissolution trial at which he had the opportunity to put on multiple witnesses, testify himself for nearly two days, cross examine Ms. Ashagari, the parenting plan evaluator, his Wellspring therapist Gary Sarozeck and other witnesses. Mr. Kassahun was granted far more due process than the Respondent Gourley who the Supreme Court of Washington determined was not improperly denied the opportunity to cross examine his daughter who had accused him of sexual abuse. Gourley, 158 Wash. 2d. at 470. The trial court, in this case, fully investigated the history of domestic violence and the credibility of Ms.

Ashagari's fear of future violence, and gave Mr. Kassahun every opportunity to make his case.

2. The record supports entry of a long-term Order for Protection.

The entry of a continuing, long term Order for Protection was supported by the findings and the record. In this case, the trial court found that Mr. Kassahun is likely to resume acts of domestic violence when the order expires as required by RCW 26.50.060(2). RP10 954. As Mr. Kassahun points out in his brief, the court of appeals in City of Seattle stated that "there is nothing in chapter 26.50 RCW requiring that the issuing court's finding as to further acts of DV appear on the face of the protection order" and "there is no requirement that the order contain the issuing court's finding required by RCW 26.50.060(2) as a condition for making the order permanent." City of Seattle v. May, 151 Wn. App. 694, 668, 699, 213 P.3d 945 (2009). The first page of the protection order in this case states that a "permanent DV Order for Protection should be entered on behalf of the petitioner." CP 471. Under Labelle, this finding for a permanent Order for Protection may "be supplemented by the trial court's oral decision or statements in the record" Labelle, 107 Wn.2d at 219-20.

The oral ruling further explains the basis for entry of this permanent Order of Protection. Specifically, the trial judge states "that

acts of domestic violence are likely to resume." RP10 954. These findings are all that are required, under *City of Seattle*, for a permanent Order of Protection to be appropriate. Beyond specifying the types of relief provided, the order is required only to specify the date it expires (if at all), the type and date of service of process used, and a notice of the criminal penalties resulting from violation of the order. RCW 26.50.035(1)(c); .060(6). The trial court fulfilled these requirements.

3. The *Freeman* case is not applicable.

Mr. Kassahun's reliance on *In re Marriage of Freeman*, 169
Wn.2d 664, 674, 239 P.3d 557 (2010) is misplaced. The *Freeman* case differs from this case because it involved children that were included in the Order of Protection. The initial full protection order entered in a standalone proceeding is effective for a fixed period, not to exceed one year if contact with the perpetrator's children is addressed. RCW 26.50.060(2). This length-of-time provision does not apply to this case because the children are not covered by the protection order entered at trial. Even if the children were to be included in the order, the court has the authority to order relief for longer than one year under RCW 26.09, 26.26, or 26.10. RCW 26.50.060(2).

This case differs from *Freeman* because it did not involve the modification or termination of an Order for Protection lasting longer than

two years. Even if the *Freeman* modification/termination standards applied, *Freeman* would require Mr. Kassahun to bear the burden of proving he will not commit future acts of domestic violence and that Ms. Ashagari's fear is unreasonable. *Freeman*, 169 Wn.2d 664 at 674 Mr. Kassahun's testimony and exhibits failed to meet that burden and cannot meet that burden under the *Freeman* standards.

The Freeman case involves strikingly different facts. In that case, Mr. Freeman sought to terminate a permanent Order for Protection in 2006. Since entry of the original order in 1998, Mr. Freeman had left Washington State and lived in another state, had never violated the protection order, had no criminal record, had no contact with his ex-wife or her children in over 10 years, had no known issues with drugs or alcohol and his health had suffered from war injuries and an amputation of his arm. Id. at 676. Unlike in Freeman, Ms. Ashagari and Mr. Kassahun share young children together and will be required to have ongoing contact and communication regarding the children, Mr. Kassahun lives in Washington State and has access to Ms. Ashagari, Mr. Kassahun has a violent criminal record, and a history of alcohol abuse. CP 3, 4, 90, 472. Unlike the ex-wife in *Freeman*, the evidentiary record in this case demonstrates that Ms. Ashagari's fear of Mr. Kassahun is reasonable and that Mr. Kassahun has not met his burden of showing that he no longer

poses a threat to Ms. Ashagari. He never contested the entry of a protection order in the first place. Ex. 14.

Even if the burden of proof belonged to Ms. Ashagari, she has met this burden. The trial court record contains substantial evidence to support the entry of a long term Order of Protection under both *Freeman* and *Spence v. Kaminski*, 101 Wn.App. 325, 12 P.3d 1030 (2000). In *Spence*, the court found that the total history of the couple's relationship, which included threats and violence along with an ongoing custody struggle, supported the victim's belief that she was at risk of imminent physical harm. Like the victim in *Spence*, Ms. Ashagari's fear of imminent physical harm is supported by the evidentiary record which substantially shows a violent relationship history with Mr. Kassahun.

C. The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it found that the appellant's income was \$13,750 for the purposes of child support and maintenance and which is supported by substantial evidence, both direct and circumstantial, of all the income available to the appellant.

Trial court decisions in dissolution proceedings will seldom be changed on appeal. *In re Marriage of Booth*, 114 Wn.2d. 722, 776, 791

⁵ For the sake of brevity the citation to the record will not be repeated again in this section as it is set forth in detail in the Statement of Facts and the previous section, see footnote no. 3.

P.2d 519 (1990). Such decisions will be upheld unless they demonstrate a manifest abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of Landry*, 103 Wn.2d 807, 809, 699 P.2d 214 (1985). A court's decision is unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard; it is based on untenable grounds if the factual findings are unsupported by the record; it is based on untenable reasons if an incorrect standard is applied or if the facts do not fall within the correct standard. *Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, at 47.

The trial in this matter took place over a period of eight days.

There were 15 witnesses, and nearly 150 exhibits. The court considered all the testimony and evidence and arrived at a reasonable conclusion regarding Mr. Kassahun's income. The court explained how it arrived at its conclusion in it's oral ruling. The method employed by the court was rational and one of several ways of looking at the evidence in the record. Most importantly, the record contains ample evidence to support the trial court's conclusion. Based on all the evidence available to it, the trial court properly exercised its discretion when it determined that Mr. Kassahun's income was \$13,750 per month and its decision should be upheld.

 The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it made the determination of child support taking into account all sources of income. A trial courts determination of child support is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of Fiorito*, 112 Wn.App. 657, 663–64, 50 P.3d 298 (2002). A court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds, including an erroneous view of the law. *Fiorito*, 112 Wn.App. at 663–64, 50 P.3d 298.

All income and resources of each parent's household shall be disclosed and considered by the court when the court determines the child support obligation of each parent. RCW 26.19.071(1). The court's analysis of income begins with tax returns and wage statements, but "other sufficient verification" must be looked at for income that does not appear on tax return or wage statements. RCW 26.19.071(2). The statute requires the court to consider ALL sources of income, and sets forth a long list of types of income which must be included in the calculation of gross monthly income, beginning with salaries and wages, and including "Income from self-employment, rent, royalties, contracts, proprietorship of a business, or joint ownership of a partnership or closely held corporation." RCW 26.19.071(3).

A parent's monthly gross income is determined by considering all income. RCW 26.19.071(1). "Except as specifically excluded in subsection (4) of this section, monthly gross income shall include income from any source ...". RCW 26.19.071(3). A trial court's failure to include all sources of income not excluded by statute is

reversible error. See In re Marriage of LaDouceur, 58 Wn.App. 12, 16, 791 P.2d 253 (1990).

In re Marriage of Bucklin, 70 Wn. App. 837, 840, 855 P.2d 1197, 1199 (1993).

Most of the income Mr. Kassahun received does not appear on his tax returns because he does not truthfully report his income. The court could not reconcile the tax returns, both personal and business, or the valuation of the business by Mr. Kassahun's expert with the "reality of this family's economic situation." RP10 949. The court considered all the income of Mr. Kassahun, including his salary from the business, the cash and draws taken from the business, and the money earned from the taxi cab licenses. The court also considered the fact that the parties had a history of saving a considerable amount of money during the marriage on top of the household expenses. The record shows the family made many major purchases during the marriage, ate out often at restaurants and traveled extensively. During the marriage and after separation Mr. Kassahun routinely used business and personal credit cards for personal expenses and made substantial monthly payments on those credit cards.

The sworn statement of the parties in their financial declarations is also a reasonable measure from which the court can gauge the expenses of the parties and the resources available to the parties to pay those expenses.

⁶ Mr. Kassahun also failed to comply with KCLFR 10.

It is an uncontested fact that prior to separation, and during separation Mr. Kassahun paid all the expenses of both parties. RP2 209, RP 3 267-269, RP6 539, 545, Ex. 111, pg. 11. It is reasonable to conclude that he can continue to do so after the divorce.

After Nathaniel was born, Ms. Ashagari did not work outside the home. RP1 75. After the parties separated and Mr. Kassahun moved out he continued to pay the household expenses for Ms. Ashagari and the children, as well as his own his own expenses. RP 2 267, RP6 539. Mr. Kassahun spent \$8000 to furnish his apartment after he moved out of the family home. RP6 609. These expenses far exceed the income he reported on his tax returns and the income he claimed to receive. Ex. 16, 29, 30, CP 104-109, RP 96-100. Even after he claimed to be destitute, he found the resources to lease a Mercedes, (Ex. 28) and spend thousands of dollars a month on personal expenses from his personal bank account. RP6 575-583, Ex. 59, 123⁷ Mr. Kassahun has not shown that the court abused its

⁷ Mr. Kassahun claimed that he was forced to borrow money to pay the maintenance and child support that were ordered by the court in August 2012. RP6 566-573, Ex. 102. This claim was made despite the fact that he paid the expenses of the household and his own personal expenses for the previous ten months voluntarily and without fail, and only stopped when the divorce was filed. The "loan" was not a loan. It required no interest and no payments. The "Promissory Note" terms require repayment in full by February 2014. Ex.102. If it was truly a loan Mr. Kassahun clearly anticipated being able to repay it within a very short time frame. The appellant admitted that he used these funds for purposes other than payment of child support and maintenance; he regularly took large amounts of cash from the proceeds when obtaining the cashier's checks for child support and maintenance. RP6 566-573. He stated that reserved \$9000 of the funds for payment of his attorney's fees. RP6 573.

discretion in ascertaining that Mr. Kassahun's income was \$13,750 a month after an evaluation of all the evidence before it.

Case law prior to the enactment of RCW 26.19 also supports a trial court's use of discretion when setting child support. In considering appeals regarding the setting of child support we have relied on the rule that trial court decisions in dissolution proceedings will seldom be changed on appeal. The spouse who challenges such decisions must show the trial court manifestly abused its discretion. When there is no abuse of discretion, we have upheld the trial court. *In re Marriage of Landry*, 103 Wash.2d 807, 699 P.2d 214 (1985).

Matter of Marriage of Booth, 114 Wash. 2d 772, 776, 791 P.2d 519, 521 (1990).

Mr. Kassahun's reliance on *In re Marriage of Sacco*, 114 Wn.2d 1, 784 P.2d 1266 (1990) does not support his contention that the court did not provide findings which enable the appellate court to conduct a meaningful review. In *Sacco*, the Washington Supreme Court found fault with the trial court because it did not fill out standard child support worksheets in compliance with RCW 26.19.020 or discuss the results of the standard calculation in its decree. The trial court in *Sacco* did not set forth a basis for deviation from what the standard calculation would have been if it had completed worksheets. In the instant case the court made a specific finding of Mr. Kassahun's income in its findings of fact, based on the complete record before it, and completed a child support worksheet as

developed by the Washington State Child Support Commission and adopted by the Legislature as required by RCW 26.09.020. The child support calculation does not deviate from the standard calculation.

Likewise, the court's analysis in *Stout* does not support the appellant's argument. *State ex. rel. Stout v. Stout*, 89 Wn.App. 118, 948 P.2d. 851 (1997). In *Stout* the court refused to deviate from the standard calculation thus reducing Stouts income below the minimum needs standard. Unlike in *Stout*, the court has significant evidence that contradicts what Mr. Kassahun reported on his income tax returns and his testimony about his income. The evidence available to the court at trial indicates that Mr. Kassahun's income is substantially greater than what he reports, and the court's determination of his income is reasonably based on both direct and circumstantial evidence when considering the amount of large expenditures he made during the marriage and after separation.

The lack of more specific and detailed findings of how the court arrived at its conclusion that Mr. Kassahun's income was \$13,750 is not required by the statute and is not error. Even if this court finds that more specific finding could have or should have been made to support its determination of Mr. Kassahun's income, the error would be harmless.

The trial court's entry of general, rather than specific, findings does not automatically require vacation of the trial court's order if evidence in the record supports it. *In re*

Marriage of Booth, 114 Wash.2d 772, 777, 791 P.2d 519 (1990).

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